I. INTRODUCTION

This case concerns four public records requests the Appellant ("Mr. Belenski") submitted to Respondent Jefferson County (hereinafter the "County") under the Public Records Act (hereinafter the "PRA"), RCW 42.56.

A. Public Records Requests for Internet Access Logs

Two of Mr. Belenski's public records requests were for Internet Access Logs (hereinafter "IAL"). The first public records request for IAL was submitted September 27, 2010 (for the time frame of February 1, 2010 to September 27, 2010) and the County responded that it had no responsive records. A second request for IAL was submitted to the County on November 2, 2011 (for the time frame of January 1, 2011 to November 1, 2011) and the County responded that it had records.

Taken as a whole, the IAL contain information relating to the conduct of government and/or performance of a governmental function, because the IAL contain information which shows how county employees are spending their work hours, what they are working on, what information they are accessing, evaluating and retrieving from the internet in performing governmental tasks, and how county resources such as computers and internet connection are being utilized.

The Internet Access Logs requested by Mr. Belenski clearly fit the definition of "public record" as defined by the PRA and Mr. Belenski respectively asserts that the ruling of the trial court, that the IAL were not "public records" because there is "no nexus between the information contained in the IAL's and the County's governmental function", is clearly in error.

B. Public Records Request for Electronic Copies of Every Electronic Record for which Jefferson County Information Services does not generate a Backup

The third of these public records request was for inspection of all records that the County did not back up. The County contended and the trial court agreed, that Mr. Belenski's request was not a public records request, because it did not make a request for identifiable public records. The County's records are permanently and repeatedly lost because of catastrophic hard drive failures, which is contrary to the PRA mandate to protect public records from damage and disorganization. RCW 42.56.100.

C. Public Records Request for Records Involving Chris Grant

At the heart of this public records requests, was a request for contact information for Chris Grant. Mr. Grant had been involved in Mr. Belenski's first request for IAL (Sept. 2010), but had left the employment of the County prior to the litigation Mr. Belenski filed in November 2012. Mr. Belenski had hoped to contact Mr. Grant, so he could ask him some

questions about what transpired regarding his Sept. 2010 public records request for IAL. Subsequent to the trial court issuing summary judgment in favor of the County, Mr. Belenski discovered that the County had silently withheld records responsive to this request.

II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR AND ISSUES PRESENTED

A. Assignment of Error

The trial court erred in (1) issuing the Memorandum Opinion of May 15, 2013; (2) issuing the Order denying Motion for Reconsideration of August 23, 2013; (3) issuing the Order granting Defendant's Motion to Lodge and Seal of September 13, 2013; (4) issuing the Order granting Defendant's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment of September 17, 2013; (5) issuing the Memorandum Opinion on Summary Judgment RE: Request No. 5 of November 7, 2013; (6) issuing the Order Granting Defendant's CR 56 Motion for Summary Judgment of November 22, 2013; and (7) issuing the Memorandum & Order RE Motion for Reconsideration of December 6, 2013.

B. Issues Presented

- 1. Whether the Internet Access Logs are Public Records.
- Whether Mr. Belenski's public records request for "electronic copies of every electronic record for which Jefferson County Information Services does not generate a backup" was a request for identifiable public records.

- 3. Whether the records, or portions thereof, responsive to Mr. Belenski's public records request involving Chris Grant properly withheld from disclosure and/or production.
- 4. Whether the County provided a brief explanation for the exemptions claimed in the exemption logs.
- 5. Whether the County silently withheld records from Mr. Belenski.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Public Records Request for Internet Access Logs

On September 27, 2010, Mike Belenski submitted a public records request to Jefferson County requesting inspection of the Internet Access Logs (IAL) from February 1, 2010 to September 27, 2010. The request clearly states it is a request for public records pursuant to the Public Records Act (PRA). (CP 211). In response to that records request, Mr. Belenski received a letter dated October 4, 2010, from County Public Records Officer Lorna Delaney, stating that there were "no responsive records" to Mr. Belenski's request. (CP 214). A follow up conversation involving this request occurred in the basement of the Jefferson County Courthouse on March 21, 2011, between Mr. Belenski and Jefferson County Deputy Prosecuting Attorney David Alvarez. During this conversation DPA Alvarez advised Mr. Belenski that the reason he did not

receive the Internet Access Logs (IAL) was because "we don't use them for anything so we don't have to keep them" (CP 194, 631).

After researching the legal validity of DPA Alvarez's comment, and possible civil actions involving the deliberate destruction of public records, Mr. Belenski made an additional public records request for IAL on November 2, 2011. (CP 194). This request for IAL was for the time frame of January 1, 2011 to November 1, 2011, inclusive (CP 221). This request clearly states it is a request for public records pursuant to the PRA, RCW 42.56. (CP 221).

The County acknowledged receipt of Mr. Belenski's public records request on November 11, 2011 and provided a reasonable estimate of the time needed to search for records. (CP 194, 223-224). Subsequently, on December 7, 2011, Mr. Belenski amended his November 2, 2011 and requested electronic copies of the IAL, rather than inspection of the IAL. (CP 195, 226-228).

The County advised Mr. Belenski on December 9, 2011 that a catastrophic hard drive failure had occurred (CP 195, 233) and that good archive data prior to 11-10-2011 could not be provided, but that "miscellaneous text files from sporadic dates can and will be provided" (CP 234).

A meeting was held on January 3, 2012, between Mr. Belenski, County Information Services employee David Shambley, and others to determine what would be included regarding Mr. Belenski's November 2, 2011, request for IAL. As soon as Mr. Belenski entered the meeting room, he asked Mr. Shambley why he had not received the IAL pursuant to his September 27, 2010 public records request and Mr. Shambley replied that "Chris Grant decided that you didn't have the software to look at them." Neither Chris Grant, nor any other County employees had contacted Mr. Belenski and asked him what software he owned or had access to. (CP 195-196). Note too, that Mr. Belenski's September 27, 2010 public records request (CP 211) does NOT request IAL in electronic form, so any question about what software might have been available at that time to Mr. Belenski was irrelevant to the County's ability to fulfill the request.

A few weeks later, on January 19, 2012, the County provided Mr. Belenski with a DVD. The DVD did not contain any of the IAL that he had requested in his September 27, 2010, or November 2, 2011, public records requests. The DVD contained only a WebSpy "Analysis Report" which summarized IAL data for various days (CP 196). The Webspy report included summary information from numerous days, including many from the time frame of February 1, 2010, to September 27, 2010,

which was the time frame requested in Mr. Belenski's first request for IAL on September 27, 2010. (CP 196, 260-261). However, Mr. Belenski had been advised by Jefferson County that there were "no responsive records" for his September 27, 2010, public records request. (CP 214).

What is important to note is that the Webspy software relies on log files for its source of data; the purpose of the Webspy is to analyze existing log file records. Webspy does not create log file records (e.g. IAL). (CP 76, 56, 64). The County used the IAL to as the source of input data to Webspy. (CP 76, 56, 62).

Example random pages from the WebSpy summary report provided to Plaintiff on January 19, 2012, show the websites visited, along with the cumulative time spent at each website and other information.

(CP 76, 56, 65-67). The websites visited include both government and non-government sites. Also of interest is the "Time of First Hit". Plaintiff made his first request for IAL on September 27, 2010 and there are several "First Hits" prior to that date, indicating that IAL existed prior to Plaintiff making his request and that those existing IAL were used to create the WebSpy report.

The County has admitted to having retained more than 300 million records on one or more hard disks. (CP 123, 129). Also included on the DVD containing the WebSpy summary report was a word document titled

"Sonicwall Reports.docx" showing Reports from existing Sonicwall Syslog files, further evidencing that the County has retained the IAL. This word document shows the number of records contained on which drive and the dates of the records contained on each drive. (CP 57, 68). The total number of records is about 300 million.

County Administrator Phillip Morley advised the Jefferson County Board of Commissioners on March 12, 2012, that he would "follow up" with Mr. Belenski about questions he had regarding his September 27, 2010 request for IAL, but Mr. Morley never followed up. (CP 124-125).

Lastly, in the County's response to a subsequent public records request from Mr. Belenski dated August 30, 2012, in which Mr. Belenski requested contact information involving Chris Grant, Mr. Belenski discovered additional information that at least some of the IAL responsive to his September 27, 2010 did exist at the time he made his request, but Jefferson County did not disclose the existence of those IAL to him. (CP 125, 138-140). Subsequently, Mr. Belenski filed this litigation on November 19, 2012.

B. Public Records Request for Electronic Copies of Every Electronic Record for which Jefferson County Information Services does not generate a Backup

On December 18, 2011, Mr. Belenski made a public records request to Jefferson County employee David Shambley for "electronic

copies of every electronic record for which Jefferson County Information Services does not generate a backup." Mr. Belenski's request clearly states it is a request for public records. (CP 240). Rather than provide the records requested, on December 20, 2011, Mr. Shambley denied Mr. Belenski's request stating that Mr. Belenski needed to make a "request for identifiable public records". Mr. Shambley went on to state that no exemption log was required nor would one be provided to Mr. Belenski. Mr. Belenski responded stating that Mr. Shambley was withholding records in their entirety and by doing so required Mr. Shambley to provide Mr. Belenski with an exemption log. Jefferson County has failed to provide the records requested or an exemption log. (CP 197-198, CP 161-162, CP 237-238, 246).

C. Public Records Request for Records Involving Chris Grant

On August 30, 2012, Mr. Belenski made a public records request for records involving Jefferson County Information Services employee Chris Grant. Mr. Belenski's request clearly states it is a request for public records. (CP 198, 248).

The County Auditor responded on September 7, 2012, providing Mr. Belenski with an exemption log claiming Chris Grant's home address was exempt pursuant to RCW 42.56.250(2), but failed to provide a brief

explanation of how the exemption applied to the record withheld. (CP 198, 250-251); RCW 42.56.210(3).

Also, on September 7, 2012, the office of the Jefferson County

Board of County Commissioners (BoCC) provided Mr. Belenski with an
exemption log claiming various exemptions, but the seven-item exemption
log did not contain any brief explanations of how the claimed exemptions
applied to the records that were withheld in their entirety (items 1 through
4) or how the claimed exemptions applied to the records from which
information was redacted (items 5 through 7). (CP 198-199, 253, 255259); RCW 42.56.210(3).

About a week after this litigation was filed, the County provided Mr. Belenski with revised exemption logs from the County Auditor and BoCC. (CP 657-658).

During oral argument regarding sealing the records, Mr. Belenski discovered that the records under consideration for sealing contained information that had not been disclosed to him (CP 414-415, 444).

In the end, the trial court ruled that the PRA exemptions claimed by the County were valid and signed an order that sealed the records. (CP 282-285,),(Sub 62, sealed records).

IV. ARGUMENT

RCW 42.56.030 contains the Legislature's mandate regarding how

the PRA must be construed:

"The people of this state do not yield their sovereignty to the agencies that serve them. The people, in delegating authority, do not give their public servants the right to decide what is good for the people to know and what is not good for them to know. The people insist on remaining informed so that they may maintain control over the instruments that they have created. This chapter shall be liberally construed and its exemptions narrowly construed to promote this public policy and to assure that the public interest will be fully protected."

Therefore the definition of "public record", as well as any other interpretation of the PRA by a court, must be liberally construed to conform with legislative mandate.

Further, the PRA "'is a strongly worded mandate for broad disclosure of public records." Soter v. Cowles Publishing Co., 162 Wn.2d 716, 730, (2007) (quoting Hearst Corp v. Hoppe, 90 Wn.2d 123, 127, (1978)). The provisions of the PRA are "liberally construed and its exemptions narrowly construed. (RCW 42.56.030). Exemptions are only recognized under the PRA if they are specifically created by statute. (RCW 42.56.070(1)).

A. Standard of Review and Burden of Proof

The standard of review for an appellate court under the PRA and on a trial court's decision on a motion for summary judgment is *de novo*. Sanders v. State, 169 Wn.2d 827, 845 (2010); Soter 162 Wn.2d at 731;

(RCW 42.56.550(3)). In reviewing a PRA request, the appellate court stands in the same position as the superior court. <u>Lindeman v. Kelso School District No. 458</u>, 162 Wn.2d 196, 200 (2007). Where the record consists of only affidavits, memoranda of law, and other documentary evidence, the superior court's factual findings on disputed issues do not bind an appellate court. <u>Delong v. Parmelee</u>, 157 Wn. App 119, 143, (2010).

The burden of proof is on the County to prove the IAL are NOT public records. Concerned Ratepayers Association v. PUD #1 of Clark County, 93 Wn. App 219, 229 (1998) ("[t]he agency has the burden of establishing that disclosure of requested records is not required."); RCW 42.56.550(1). The County has not met its burden.

B. Public Records Requests for Internet Access Logs

The central issue involving Mr. Belenski's public records requests for IAL, is whether or not the IAL are public records. Mr. Belenski position is that the trial court erred when it determined that in order for the IAL to satisfy prong #2, of the definition of public record, there needed to be a "nexus" between the information contained in the IAL and the County's decision making or governmental function (CP 295).

The definition of a public record (RCW 42.56.010(2)) specifically states that it is (1) any writing, (2) containing information relating to the

conduct of government or the performance of any governmental or proprietary function (3) prepared, owned, used or retained by any state or local agency regardless of physical form or characteristics.

It is undisputed that the IAL satisfy prong #1, and are a "writing" as defined by the PRA. (RCW 42.56.010(3)).

The County made several arguments involving prong #3, (CP 470-477), which Mr. Belenski rebutted (CP CP 71-77, 172-176).

Ultimately, the trial court held that the determinative issue involving the IAL, was prong #2, i.e. any writing "containing information related to the conduct of government or the performance of any governmental or proprietary function". (CP 291).

Most people would agree the public has a legitimate interest in investigating the County's use of the internet. The IAL, among other things, contain information relating to the conduct of government involving the use of internet, how much time is being spent on the internet, what information the government is reviewing, evaluating and retrieving, and how County resources like computers and the internet connection itself are being utilized, etc. Further, when public employees use the internet as part of their assigned tasks, they are performing a "governmental function" and the IAL contain information relating to the execution of those assigned tasks, which also satisfies prong #2.

Mr. Belenski respectfully submits that the trial court erred in ruling that the IAL are not public records when the court concluded that there is no "nexus" between the information contained in the IAL and the County's decision making or governmental function (CP 295). "A court's goal is to carry out the legislature's intent giving meaning to every word of the statute." Rental Housing Association v. City of Des Moines, 165 Wn.2d 525, 542 (2009).

If the intent of the Legislature was to limit the definition of "public record" to only those records for which there is a "nexus" between the information contained in the record and an Agency's decision making process, it could have easily done so. As the Supreme Court stated in O'Neill v. City of Shoreline, 170 Wn.2d 138, 147 (2010) ("In sum, 'public record' is defined very broadly, encompassing virtually any record related to the conduct of government.")

Since the meaning of the statute (RCW 42.56.010(2)) is plain on its face, the trial court's inquiry was at an end. There was no need for the trial court to analyze whether there was a "nexus" between the information contained in the IAL and the County's decision making or governmental function. The trial court was required to interpret and construe RCW 42.56.010(2) to give effect to all the language used and it failed to do so by overlooking the plain language of prong #2. Mechling v. City of

Monroe, 152 Wn. App. 830, 845, (2009) ("In determining legislative intent, we first look to the plain language and ordinary meaning of the statute. If the meaning of the statute is plain on its face, our inquiry is at an end. We must interpret and construe statutes to give effect to all the language used, rendering no portion meaningless or superfluous." (citations omitted)).

Using the plain language of prong #2, Plaintiff has established that the IAL contain "information relating to the conduct of government or the performance of any governmental or proprietary function". It is uncontroverted that the IAL contain information relating to the conduct of government because they contain information about user (County employee) access to the internet. The IAL contain one or more records per user interaction per webpage, including internet host names (not merely IP addresses, which can be dynamic or simply reassigned over time), users' identities, internet addresses (URLs) of specific webpages accessed, dates/times of such accesses, etc. (CP 91-92).

Further, the County admits that the IAL contain a record of every single contact between a county-issued personal computer ("PC") and the World Wide Web. (CP 361); the County also admits, that at a minimum, an individual IAL record contains the date, time, user, full name of the URL reached (rather than just the IP address), and the category of the

URL (news, sports, retail, etc.). (CP 368). This testimony is further supported by the County's response to Interrogatory #89, in which the County provided data from a typical UDP file:

<134>id=firewall sn=0017C5169F10 time="2012-12-04 23:55:15 UTC" fw=X.X.X.X pri=6 c=1024 m=97 usr="DOMAIN\username" src=X.X.X.X:9999:XO dst=X.X.X.X:80:Xl proto=tcp/http sent=1221 dstname=oascentral.yellowpages.com arg=/RealMedia/ads/Creatives/default/empty.gif Category="News and Media"

Date = "2012-12-04", Time = "23:55:15 UTC", URL name = "oascentral.yellowpages.com", Category = "News and Media".

(CP 341).

Since County employees utilize the internet to obtain information to perform work tasks (CP 363-364), what County employees are accessing on the internet clearly relates to the conduct of government and execution of a governmental function. Access to this type of information by the Public is the purpose and intent of the PRA.

1. The Internet Access Logs are Public Records

The definition of a public record (RCW 42.56.010(2)) specifically states that "(1) it is a writing, (2) containing information relating to the conduct of government or the performance of any governmental or

proprietary function (3) prepared, owned, used or retained by any state or local agency regardless of physical form or characteristics."

The trial court held that the determinative issue involving the IAL, was prong #2, i.e. any writing "containing information related to the conduct of government or the performance of any governmental or proprietary function". (CP 291).

Ultimately, the trial court ruled that the IAL were not public records, as defined by the PRA, because there was "no nexus between the information contained in the IAL's and the County's governmental function." (CP 295) and granted partial summary judgment to the County (CP 278-281).

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