NO. 45756-3-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

MIKE BELENSKI,

Appellant,

v.

JEFFERSON COUNTY,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT JEFFERSON COUNTY

Jeffrey S. Myers, WSBA No. 16390 Law, Lyman, Daniel, Kamerrer & Bogdanovich, P.S. P.O. Box 11880 Olympia, WA 98508-1880 (360) 754-3480

David Alvarez, WSBA No. 29194 Jefferson County Chief Civil Deputy Prosecuting Attorney P.O. Box 1220 Port Townsend, WA 98368 (360) 385-9219

Attorneys for Respondent Jefferson County

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

significance because the County is held to the standard of reasonableness, not perfection with respect to PRA searches. *Neighborhood Alliance v. County of Spokane*, 172 Wn.2d 702, 720, 261 P.3d 119, 128 (2011).

D. REQUEST #4 DOES NOT SEEK IDENTIFIABLE RECORDS

In Request #4 Belenski sought "electronic copies of every electronic record for which Jefferson County does not generate a backup." CP 239. The Court properly determined that this is not a request for identifiable public records, as required by RCW 42.56.070, and is not a valid request. Hence, the County did not violate the PRA when it responded to Belenski that this request does not seek identifiable records.

Under the PRA, a requester must seek "identifiable public records". *Bonamy v. City of Seattle*, 92 Wn.App. 403, 960 P.2d 447 (1998). An agency need not respond to requests for information and does not violate the PRA by failing to respond to requests that do not provide a reasonable description of the specific records requested. The Act does not require agencies to research or explain public records, but only to make those records accessible to the public. *Smith v. Okanogan Cnty.*, 100 Wn. App. 7, 12, 994 P.2d 857, 862 (2000); *Bonamy*, 92 Wn.App. 403, 960 P.2d 447 (1998).

When the County informed Belenski it was unable to identify records by whether or not Information Services backed them up because the County never bifurcated its records in that manner (CP 237), Belenski doubled-down and insisted his false distinction between records backed up and those not backed up was sufficiently precise to allow the County to search its records for responsive records. CP 236. Belenski refused to clarify this request, expressly putting the burden back on the County to figure out what he was seeking, writing in a December 20, 2011 e-mail to IS Manager Shambley that he has "provided enough information that a Information Services employee would be reasonably expected to identify or locate it, and provide an electronic copy of it." CP 236.

That December 2011 e-mail wrongly attempted to shift the burden to the County to identify what records Belenski wanted in Request #4. "The PRA does not 'require public agencies to be mind readers." *Levy v. Snohomish Cnty.*, 167 Wn.App. 94, 98, 272 P.3d 874, 876 (2012), *quoting Bonamy v. City of Seattle*, 92 Wn.App. at 409, 15 (county reasonably sought clarification when requester wanted to see a document "my defense attorney showed me eight years ago" because the county

Bonamy explains further: "An important distinction must be drawn between a request for information about public records and a request for the records themselves. The act does not require agencies to research or explain public records, but only to make those records accessible to the public. Nor does the act require public agencies to be mind readers." Id., 93 Wn.App. at 409.

could not know what defense attorney did or did not show the requester eight years previously.) Similarly, in *Smith v. Okanogan Cty.*, Smith's assertion that "the County should have helped him properly identify the records he wanted" was expressly rejected by Division III as beyond the duty imposed on local governments under the Public Records Act. *Smith*, 100 Wn.App. at 15, n. 3.

In reality, Request #4 was a request for <u>information</u> about what the County had NOT DONE because it was a request for the electronic records the County had not backed up. In its essence, Belenski was asking the informational question "are there records that Information Services does not back up?" Request #4 was analogous to asking a person for a list of books you haven't read or a list of movies you haven't seen.

This was not a request by which the County could reasonably determine if a record was responsive by examining the record. Instead, it would be required to conduct research to answer Mr. Belenski's information request before it could determine if a record is responsive. "The [PRA] does not require agencies to research or explain public records, but only to make those records accessible to the public." *Smith supra*, 100 Wn.App. at 12, (citing *Bonamy, supra*, 92 Wn.App. at 409; *Gronquist, supra*, 177 Wn. App. at 401.

There is nothing in the statute that requires an agency to conduct the type of research needed to respond to this request. WAC 44-14-04002, citing *Limstrom*, 136 Wn.2d at 604, n.3 (Act does not require 'an agency to go outside its own records and resources to try to identify or locate the record requested'); Bonamy, 92 Wn. App. at 409 (act 'does not require agencies to research or explain public records, but only to make those records accessible to the public'). It is the requester's obligation to identify the requested record with sufficient particularity that allows the agency to determine whether it is requested. Here, the agency must necessarily conduct research to determine whether a record is responsive. For example, for any specific record, the County cannot determine if it is responsive after it is located. Nor could Mr. Belenski determine whether any specific record is responsive if the County were to bring one to him because reaching that decision would require additional information about every electronic record in the possession of the county. That is beyond the county's obligation.

In accordance with *Bonamy*, *Levy* and *Smith*, Request #4 was not a request for an "identifiable" public record as RCW 42.56.080 requires because the County does not organize its records by those which are backed up and those which are not. As a result, it does not have the ability to determine which records are responsive or not. The County's response

to Request #4 complied with the PRA and the County was properly granted Summary Judgment with respect to Request #4.

E. THE COURT PROPERLY UPHELD THE COUNTY'S APPLICATION OF EXEMPTIONS APPLICABLE TO EMPLOYMENT RECORDS FOR CHRIS GRANT.

Belenski has taken the unusual route of challenging as erroneous a ruling from the trial court below which was favorable to him, a ruling which awarded him \$434.99 in costs. CP 270-273. He received those costs, costs associated with the filing of the lawsuit and arguing the motions in a neighboring county, because the judge below determined that only by filing the lawsuit did Belenski obtain what he was always entitled to: two Exemption Logs, each containing an adequate "brief explanation" as required by RCW 42.56.210(3). CP 273. Respondent Jefferson County did NOT cross-appeal on this issue.

The Trial Court reviewed the County's personnel documents concerning Mr. Grant *in camera* and held that the County properly applied the exemptions. In response, Belenski raises new arguments, including an assertion that the court failed to make findings that the information violated personal privacy or vital government interests. Brief at 33. Belenski did not make this argument below (or in his Verified Complaint) and cannot now raise this issue, which was never brought to Judge Wood's attention.

What Belenski did argue before the trial court (despite its absence in his Verified Complaint) is that the exemption in RCW 42.56.250(2) should not apply to Mr. Grant's records because he was not an applicant or an employee at the time of the request. This was properly rejected by the Trial Court because any employee must necessarily have been an "applicant". Likewise the court correctly applied RCW 42.56.250 to the employment records of Mr. Grant, even though he had recently resigned and was an "ex-employee" at the time of the request. Belenski cites no authority that the employee exemptions cease to apply upon termination of the employee's employment relationship. Such a result is contrary to *Seattle Firefighters Union Local No. 27 v. Hollister*, 48 Wn.App. 129, 134, 737 P.2d 1302, 1305 (1987) where the Court held:

The legislative intent to protect the privacy rights of public employees would, however, logically lead to the conclusion that the employee's exemption does not terminate upon retirement. Therefore, even though the individuals who are the subject of these records have retired, they are still protected by the public employee exemption of RCW 42.17.310(1)(b).

To challenge his only success at the trial court Belenski has gone far astray from any allegation found in his Verified Complaint regarding his request for records relating to Chris Grant, a former County employee, what came to be known as Request #5. CP 198, 199. By way of example only, Belenski now argues that A) the statutory exemptions listed on the

disputed Exemption Logs do not apply to what was exempted and B) the records deemed entirely exempt by the County and the trial court were, at most partially exempt from production to him. (Opening Brief 30-32).

Despite their absence from the Verified Complaint, Belenski has argued these theories in various briefs submitted below. In response, the County has never argued the merits of these "not raised in the Complaint" allegations except to point out that they were not found in the Verified Complaint. CP 625.16 However, "a party who does not plead a cause of action or theory of recovery cannot finesse the issue by later inserting the theory into trial briefs and contending it was in the case all along." Dewey v. Tacoma School Dist. No. 10, 95 Wn.App. 18, 27, 974 P.2d 847 (1999) (Dewey never alleged a First Amendment violation in his complaint and despite so arguing in his briefs and oral argument that issue was not tried by implication and would not suffice to overturn the school district's successful motion to dismiss.) See also Mollov v. City of Bellevue, 71 Wn.App. 382, 385-386, 859 P.2d 613 (1993) (rejecting plaintiff's "veiled attempt" to amend his complaint by raising a theory of wrongful termination in response to summary judgment motion).

-

The County made different arguments about Request #5 on two other occasions and never argued the merits of the allegations Belenski has attempted to insert into this litigation via his briefing. See CP 508, 509, 597, 598.

Moreover, Mr. Belenski relies upon information that he failed to present to the trial court until his second motion for reconsideration in December 2013. See Opening Brief at 34: CP 415, 443-445. These were belatedly obtained by Belenski's later request to the County Auditor and Assessor on November 21, 2013, after the issue was already argued on November 1, 2013 and the Court had issued its memorandum decision on November 11, 2013. The Court properly denied reconsideration because Belenski should have presented this information during the briefing of the matter and he failed to proceed with reasonable diligence as required by CR 59(a)(4). CP 268. Belenski fails to demonstrate any error in this decision or that it was an abuse of discretion. *Drake v. Smersh*, 122 Wn.App. 147, 151, 89 P.3d 726 (2004).¹⁷

The belated allegation that a "screen shot" record was "silently withheld" is unsupported by fact or law. That record was expressly described in the exemption log given to Belenski as required by *PAWS v. University of Washington*, 125 Wn. 2d 243, 884 P.2d 592 (1994), CP 254, and was reviewed by Judge Wood, as Belenski concedes. Brief at 32. It was not silently withheld. Mr. Belenski speculates that the County wanted

¹⁷ Even if allowed to present the new evidence, it was obtained from different county offices from where Belenski directed Request #5. His original request was directed to the Board of County Commissioners and sought employment records. CP 249. The County did not err in responding from the BoCC rather than other County offices. See *Koenig v. Pierce County*, 151 Wn.App. 221, 233-34, 211 P.3d 423 (2009) (records from Sheriff need not be provided where request sent to Prosecutor).

to hinder him from contacting Grant and prevent him from finding out Grant's contact information to prevent him from telling what he knew about the request for Syslog data. Brief at 35. This specious argument ignores that Belenski had the opportunity to seek discovery in this matter, which delayed the original hearing of the County's summary judgment motion. Given the availability of discovery, the County could not have hoped to hamper Belenski's efforts or hide the ball in the fashion imagined by Belenski.

Because Belenski cannot now present any theory for relief that was never asserted in his Verified Complaint this Court should affirm the trial court's ruling on Request #5. He has already won on this issue and the County did not cross-appeal with respect to Request #5.

F. BELENSKI'S CLAIMS FOR THE FIRST AND SECOND REQUESTS WERE UNTIMELY UNDER THE PRA'S STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.

Allegations of PRA violations arising from Requests #1 and #2 became untimely on October 11, 2011, more than 13 months before the Verified Complaint was filed. The controlling precedent in this context is *Bartz v. State Dept. of Corrections Public Disclosure Unit*, 173 Wn. App. 522 (2013), *review denied*, 177 Wn.2d 1024 (2013). In *Bartz* this Division ruled that when a public agency provides a single response, even where that single response was not a "last installment" and was not

accompanied by an exemption log, the one-year Statute of Limitations found in RCW 42.56.550(6) applies to a PRA lawsuit challenging the lawfulness of that single response.

Both the trial court and Division Two applied the one-year Statute of Limitations found in RCW 42.56.550(6) and found the lawsuit filed 14 months after the agency's response to be time-barred. Presiding Judge Hunt provided the following reasoning:

Bartz filed his claim more than one year, but less than two years, after DOC's last disclosure under PDU-8623. Thus, we must decide whether (1) Bartz's action was time-barred because DOC triggered the one-year statute of limitations, RCW 42.56 .550(6), with its production of one installment of documents; or (2) Bartz's action was not time-barred because there is no statute of limitations that applies to a PRA action based on an agency's production of a single installment. Following our reasoning in Johnson, we reject the second alternative because it would be an absurd result to conclude that the legislature intended no statute of limitations for PRA actions involving the production of a single volume of documents. Johnson, 164 Wn.App. at 777, 265 P.3d 216; see also Cannon v. Dep't of Licensing. 147 Wn.2d 41, 57, 50 P.3d 627 (2002) ("This court will avoid a literal reading of a provision if it would result in unlikely, absurd, or strained consequences.") It would also be absurd to conclude that the legislature intended to create a more lenient statute of limitations for one category of PRA requests in light of its 2005 deliberate and significant shortening of the time for filing a claim from five years, under the old Public Disclosure Act, to one year, under the PRA."

Bartz, at 536-37.

On September 27, 2010 Belenski requested "inspection of the [IAL] from February 1, 2010 to September 27, 2010." CP 211. The County later called this Request #1. The County's sole response to Request #1 dated October 4, 2010 (CP 214) of "no responsive records" may have spurred Request #2, which was an email time-stamped outside business hours on October 7, 2010. This request asked for the Certificates of Destruction for the 2010 IAL sought in Request #1 and the Records Retention schedule for IAL. CP 216. The County fully responded to Request #2 on October 11, 2010 by sending Belenski a single email with one attachment. CP 218.

As a result of the single unified responses to both Requests #1 and #2, Belenski had only one year to bring his lawsuit alleging that those responses did not comply with the PRA. He failed to do so. Instead, Belenski waited more than two years before filing suit on November 19, 2012. Any allegations relating to Requests #1 and #2 are time-barred by the one-year statute of limitations stated in RCW 42.56.550(6) as interpreted by *Bartz*.

Alternatively, these requests (Requests #1 and 2) are barred by RCW 4.16.030's two year statute of limitations. The Court may affirm the trial court on any ground that the record supports. *Johnson v. State Dep't*

of Corr., 164 Wn. App. 769, 779, 265 P.3d 216, 220 (2011) (affirming dismissal because it was untimely under both RCW 42.56.550(6) and RCW 4.16.030.)

IV. CONCLUSION

Based upon the analysis found in this Brief this Court should affirm all of the decisions rendered below by the trial court.